2016 DEC -8 PM 2: 18

Supreme Count No.F WASHINGTON Court of Appeals No. 47727-1-II Strand Consolidated With Court of Appeals-No: 47367:4-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

ξ

DALE E. ALSAGER, D.O., Ph.D.,

PETITIONER,

V.

BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE AND SURGERY; et al.,

RESPONDENTS.

DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW RAP 13.4(a)

RHYS A. STERLING, P.E., J.D. By: Rhys A. Sterling, #13846 Attorney for Petitioner Dale E. Alsager

P.O. Box 218 Hobart, Washington 98025-0218

Telephone: 425-432-9348 Facsimile: 425-413-2455

Email: RhysHobart@hotmail.com

ORIGINAL

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE CASE6
A. DR ALSAGER HAS FIRMLY STOOD ON HIS CONSTITUTIONAL AND COMMON LAW RIGHTS 6
B. BRIEF BACKGROUND STATEMENT 8
C. BACKGROUND STATEMENT OF PROCEDURES11
ARGUMENT13
A. This Court Is The Final Arbiter Of State Constitutional And Statutory Law – RAP 13.4(b)(3) And RAP 13.4(b)(4)13
B. The Court of Appeals Decision Holds That Quasi-Criminal Has No Constitutional Legal Significance And Such An Opinion Conflicts With The Well-Established Decisions Of The U.S. Supreme Court And This Supreme Court – RAP 13.4(b)(1) And RAP 13.4(b)(3).
C. The Decision Of Division II Conflicts With The Decision Of Division I Distinguishing Ward From Boyd And Affirming The Absolute Fifth Amendment Rights In Quasi-Criminal Cases – RAP 13.4(b)(2)
D. Permitting Agencies To Obtain Private Prescription Records Without A Search Warrant Is A Clear Violation Of Wash. Const. Art. I, § 7, And Involves A Significant Issue Of Public Interest – RAP 13.4(b)(3) And RAP 13.4(b)(4)
CONCLUSIONS
DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW PAGE i

APPENDIX

Appendix Index
Court of Appeals, Division II, Part Published Opinion APP-2
Court of Appeals, Division II, Order Denying Motion To Publish Part III Of Opinion
U.S. Constitution, Amend. IV APP-31
U.S. Constitution, Amend. V
U.S. Constitution, Amend. XIV
Washington State Constitution, Article I, § 2 APP-32
Washington State Constitution, Article I, § 3 APP-32
Washington State Constitution, Article I, § 7 APP-32
Washington State Constitution, Article I, § 9 APP-32
Washington State Constitution, Article I, § 29 APP-32
RCW 18.130.050
RCW 18.130.095
RCW 18.130.100
RCW 18.130.160
RCW 18.130.180
RCW 18.130.230
RCW 34.05.020 APP-35
RCW 34.05.452 APP-36
DALE ALGACERIC DESCRIPTION

DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -- PAGE ii

RCW 34.05.570	APP-36
RCW 70.02.050.	APP-37
RCW 70.225.040	APP-37
WAC 10-08-220	APP-38
WAC 246-16-800	APP-38
1881 Code of (the Territory of) Washington, Section 936	APP-40
1891 Laws of Washington, Chapter CLIII (153), Section 12	APP-43
1915 Laws of Washington, Chapter 2, Section 7	APP-47
1917 Laws of Washington, Chapter 19	APP-50
1933 Laws of Washington, Chapter 2	APP-55

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Table of Cases **United States Constitution U.S. Supreme Court** Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746 In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544, 88 S. Ct. 1222, 20 L. Ed. 2d 117 Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S. 39, 88 S. Ct. 697, 19 L. Ed. 2d 889 Martin v. Hunter's Lessee, 14 U.S. (1 Wheat) 304, 4 L. Ed. 97 Spevack v. Klein, 385 U.S. 511, 87 S. Ct. 625, 17 L. Ed. 2d 574 Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 94 S. Ct. 1209, 39 L. Ed. 2d 505 United States v. Hubbell, 530 U.S. 27, 120 S. Ct. 2037, 147 L. Ed. 2d 24 (2000) (Justice Thomas, with whom Justice Scalia joins, United States v. Ward, 448 U.S. 242, 100 S. Ct. 2636, 65 L. Ed. 2d 742 Washington State Constitution DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

-- PAGE iv

Wash. Const. art. I, § 3
Wash. Const. art. I, § 7
Wash. Const. art. I, § 9
Wash. Const. art. I, § 29
Washington Court Cases
Clausing v. Department of Health, 90 Wn. App. 863, 955 P.2d 394 (1998)
Clients A v. Yoshinaka, 128 Wn. App. 833, 116 P.3d 1081 (2005) 20
Defunis v. Odegaard, 84 Wn.2d 617, 529 P.2d 438 (1974) (Finley, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part).
Freeman v. Gregoire, 171 Wn.2d 316, 256 P.3d 264 (2011) (J.M. Johnson, J., dissenting)
Hardee v. Department of Social & Health Services. 172 Wn.2d 1, 256 P.3d 339 (2011). 14
In re Petersen, 138 Wn.2d 70, 980 P.2d 1204 (1990)
In re Revocation of the License to Practice Dentistry of Flynn, 52 Wn.2d 589, 328 P.2d 150 (1958)
In re Revocation of License of Kindschi, 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958)
Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wn.2d 837, 154 P.3d 206 (2007)14
Murphy v. State, 115 Wn. App. 297, 62 P.3d 533 (2003) 17, 18, 19
Nguyen v. State, Department of Health Medical Quality Assurance Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001)
Seymour v. Washington State Department of Health, Dental Quality Assurance Commission, 152 Wn. App. 156, 216 P.3d 1039 (2009)
State v. Earls, 116 Wn.2d 364, 805 P.2d 211 (1991)
DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW PAGE v

State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986) 11, 17, 18, 19
State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 45 P.2d 1062 (2002)
State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) 2, 10, 18
State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003)
State v. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 95, 196 P.3d 645 (2008)
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)
Tapper v. Employment Security Department, 122 Wn.2d 397, 858 P.2d 494 (1993)
Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Services., 136 Wn.2d 322, 962 P.2d 104 (1998)
Washington v. Ankney, 53 Wn. App. 393, 766 P.2d 1131 (1989) 17
Washington v. Chrisman, 100 Wn.2d 814, 676 P.2d 419 (1984) 13
Washington Medical Disciplinary Board v. Johnston, 99 Wn.2d 466, 663 P.2d 457 (1983)
Other Jurisdictions
City of Philadelphia v. Kenny, 369 A.2d 1343 (Pa.Commw.Ct. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 923 (1978)
Cohan v. Ayabe, 322 P.3d 948 (Haw. 2014)
De La Cruz v. Quackenbush, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 92 (Cal.App. 2000) 10, 19
One 1995 Corvette v. Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, 724 A.2d 680 (Md. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 927, 120 S. Ct. 321, 145 L. Ed. 2d 250 (1999)
Oregon Prescription Drug Monitoring Program v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, 998 F. Supp. 2d 957 (D. Oregon 2014) 5, 19
State v Laird, 135 A.2d 859 (N.J. 1957)
State Bar of Michigan v. Woll, 194 N.W.2d 835 (Mich. 1972)
DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW PAGE vi

State ex rel. Oklahoma Bar Association v. Wilcox, 227 P.3d 642 (Okla. 2009)
State ex rel. Vining v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 281 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1973)
State v. Skinner, 10 So.3d 1212 (La. 2009)
State Statutes
1881 Code of (the Territory of) Washington, Section 936 5, 18
1891 Laws of Washington, Chapter CLIII (153), Section 12 5, 17-18
1915 Laws of Washington, Chapter 2, Section 7
1917 Laws of Washington, Chapter 19
1933 Laws of Washington, Chapter 2
RCW 7.24.1465
RCW 18.130.050(7)
RCW 18.130.1004
RCW 18.130.1606
RCW 18.130.180(8) 5, 10, 11
RCW 18.130.180(9)11
RCW 18.130.230(1)
RCW 34.05.0204, 6
RCW 34.05.452(1)
RCW 34.05.57014
RCW 34.05.570(3)10
RCW 70.02.050(2)(a)
DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW PAGE vii

RCW 70.225.040(3)
State Administrative Regulations
WAC 10-08-220
WAC 246-16-800(2)(b)(ii)
Court Rules
CR 12(b)(6)
RAP 10.3(g)6
RAP 10.3(h)6
RAP 10.4(c)6
RAP 13.4(a) Cover
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(3)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RAP 13.4(c)(3)4
Other Authorities
Clemens, The Pending Reinvigoration of Boyd: Personal Papers Are Protected by the Privilege Against Self-Incrimination, 25 N. III. U. L. Rev. 75 (2004)
Comment, The Origin and Development of Washington's Independent Exclusionary Rule: Constitutional Right and Constitutionally Compelled Remedy, 61 Wash. L. Rev. 459 (1986)

DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -- PAGE viii

Lissitzyn, Oliver J., The International Court of Justice: Its Role in	
the Maintenance of International Peace and Security (The Law-	
book Exchange, Ltd. 2006 [Department of Public Law and Gov-	
ernment, Columbia University])	. 8-9

DALE ALSAGER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -- PAGE ix

I. PREFACE

The Court of Appeals just overruled 130 years of U.S. Supreme Court precedent and over 58 years of this Court's precedent by holding that a quasicriminal action is actually but a civil action and the accused has no more constitutional rights than does a defendant in a civil case. The Court of Appeals has just challenged this Court to reverse it; and that's precisely what Dr Alsager respectfully asks of this Court. This Court must take this opportunity to make clear to all State agencies and lower courts the legal principles that this Court's (1) *Nguyen*¹ decision is not the *be-all* and *end-all* with respect to the constitutional protections accorded the accused in quasi-criminal professional license disciplinary actions where fundamental, independent rights and protections are afforded under U.S. Const., Amends. IV and V, and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 7 and 9; and (2) holding that professional license disciplinary actions are *quasi-criminal* is legally significant and is not a mere talisman of no constitutional import as wrongly espoused by the Court of Appeals.

In what this Court clearly and has long held to be a quasi-criminal professional license disciplinary action,² the Board of Osteopathic Medicine and Surgery (Board) permanently revoked, with absolutely no opportunity ever

¹ Nguyen v. State, Department of Health Medical Quality Assurance Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 528, 29 P.3d 689 (2001) ("Johnston and Kindschi [infra, at fn.2] are unquestionably the law of this jurisdiction"). This Court left absolutely no doubt this is the law!

² See Washington Medical Disciplinary Board v. Johnston, 99 Wn.2d 466, 474, 663 P 2d 457 (1983); In re Kindschi, 52 Wn.2d 8, 10-11, 319 P.2d 824 (1958), Nguyen v. Department of Health Medical Quality Assurance Commission, 144 Wn 2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001), Clausing v. Department of Health, 90 Wn. App. 863, 955 P.2d 394 (1998).

for reinstatement, the Osteopathic Physician and Surgeon's license of Dale E. Alsager, D.O., Ph.D. (Dr Alsager). This Court has stated that such a penalty is the administrative death sentence. *In re Flynn*.³ The only way the Board could impose the death penalty on Dr Alsager was by:

- 1. Violating his fundamental and absolute Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and privilege against self-incrimination; and
- 2. Obtaining what were alleged to be his patient prescription records without a search warrant in violation of Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.

The Board's patent violation of these fundamental constitutional rights and privileges disregarded and trampled under this Court's clear and unequivocal long-established rules of law that:

- 1. The U.S. Supreme Court's decisions interpreting and applying the Fifth Amendment are binding on Washington courts in their interpretation and application of Wash. Const. art. I, § 9 (*Unga* and *Earls*); and
- 2. Wash. Const. art. I, § 7, is more protective of private affairs than is the Fourth Amendment (*Jones*, *O'Neill*, and *Ladson*).⁵

The Board, by and through the Department of Health-employed Presiding Officer, used these constitutional and Washington law violations to:

1. Permit the prosecutor to call Dr Alsager and be compelled to testify against himself;

³ In re Revocation of the License to Practice Dentistry of Flynn, 52 Wn.2d 589, 328 P 2d 150 (1958)

⁴ State v. Unga, 165 Wn 2d 95, 100, 196 P.3d 645 (2008), State v. Earls, 116 Wn 2d 364, 375, 805 P.2d 211 (1991).

⁵ State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 332, 45 P.2d 1062 (2002); State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 584, 62 P.3d 489 (2003); State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 348, 979 P.2d 833 (1999)

- 2. Permit the prosecutor to question an empty chair at trial when Dr Alsager refused to be called and compelled to testify as a witness against himself;
- 3. Permit the prosecutor to comment on Dr Alsager's refusal to testify;
- 4. Deny Dr Alsager's motions in limine and at trial to exclude purported evidence that was illegally obtained through a warrantless search; and
- 5. Admit and use against Dr Alsager, to establish his guilt, illegally obtained, incompetent evidence.

These violations of Dr Alsager's fundamental constitutional rights and privileges allowed the Board to erroneously conclude that he:

- 1. Failed to cooperate with the DOH and Board; and
- 2. Violated a Board Order related to prescriptions;

thus resulting in the death sentence, all approved by the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals, falling into the same abyss as did the Maryland Court of Appeals from the purported absence of its own State Supreme Court precedent, affirmed the death sentence imposed by the Board. Dr Alsager relies on this Court to affirm and establish the relevant precedent and reverse the Board's death sentence and the Court of Appeals affirmation, as did the Maryland Supreme Court⁶ and all other federal and State courts⁷ that actually and faithfully apply established constitutional law to quasi-criminal actions.

One 1995 Corvette v. Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, 724 A 2d 680 (Md. 1999), cert denied, 528 U.S. 927, 120 S. Ct. 321, 145 L. Ed. 2d 250 (1999)

⁷ See, e.g., State ex rel. Oklahoma Bar Association v. Wilcox, 227 P.3d 642, 654-55, 658 (Okla, 2009); State ex rel. Vining v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 281 So.2d 487, 491 (Fla, 1973); State Bar of Michigan v. Woll, 194 N.W.2d 835 (Mich. 1972).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(c)(3), Dale E. Alsager is the Petitioner asking the Supreme Court to grant discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Court of Appeals, Division 2, issued and filed its Part Published Opinion on November 15, 2016. *See* Appendix, at pp. APP-2 -- APP-29.

Dr Alsager timely filed a Motion to Publish Part III (Declaratory Judgment) on November 16, 2016. The Court of Appeals summarily denied Dr Alsager's Motion to Publish on November 18. See Appendix, at p. APP-30.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues of law presented to this Court for review are significant and far reaching legal issues under and pursuant to the federal and State Constitutions and State statutes including, *inter alia*:

- 1. Whether in the Board's quasi-criminal action against Dr Alsager and his professional license he is entitled as a matter of law to the blanket assertion and protection of his absolute U.S. Const., Amend. V right to remain silent and privilege against self-incrimination unfettered and without sanction or adverse inference?⁸
- Whether because Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 7 and 9, rights and privileges are greater and more protective of private affairs than U.S. Const., Amend. IV and V, especially medical information and prescription records that have been afforded privacy protection since

^{*} See U S. Const., Amends. IV, V, and XIV; Wash Const art. 1, §§ 2, 3, 7, 9, and 29; Boyd v United States, 116 U.S. 616, 634-35, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L Ed. 746 (1886), Spevack v Klein, 385 U.S 511, 87 S. Ct 625, 17 L. Ed 2d 574 (1967), In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544, 88 S. Ct. 1222, 20 L Ed. 2d 117 (1968); RCW 18.130 100, RCW 34 05.020; WAC 10-08-220.

before statehood, there is no required records exception under Washington law and no patient medical information and/or prescription records, wherever located and by whomever kept, may be accessed by any government agency personnel without a search warrant, and all such records obtained by or subsequently discovered without a search warrant is not competent evidence and is subject to the exclusionary rule, omitted from the record, and not given any consideration?

- 3. Whether in light of Dr Alsager's fundamental constitutional rights and privileges pursuant to U.S. Const., Amends. IV, V, and XIV, and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 2, 3, 7, 9, and 29, the following State statutes are unconstitutional and unenforceable in professional license disciplinary quasi-criminal actions; to wit: RCW 18.130.050(7), RCW 18.130.180(8), RCW 18.130.230(1), RCW 70.02.050(2)(a), and RCW 70.225.040(3) (the latter two in the absence of a search warrant)?
- 4. Whether the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act (UDJA) in RCW 7.24.146 is unconstitutional as applied in its absolute bar to actions for Declaratory Judgment arising from agency actions reviewable under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) where a Declaratory Judgment action is brought stemming from and following an agency's declining to issue a Declaratory Order which, although such exhausts available administrative remedies, under the APA does not constitute an action reviewable under the APA?¹⁰
- 5. Whether the APA factually and legally provides an adequate and timely remedy for Dr Alsager's being forced to decide without

This particular issue addresses the greater protection afforded private affairs and testimonial physical records under the Washington Constitution, including a reasonable expectation of privacy in physician prescription records that was recognized as an integral part of Washington law at and prior to statchood. See 1881 Code of (the Territory of) Washington, Section 936, 1891 Laws of Washington, Chapter CLIII (153), Section 12 The Board and the Court of Appeals ignored the persuasive Fourth Amendment analysis given in Oregon Prescription Drug Monitoring Program v U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, 998 F. Supp 2d 957 (D. Oregon 2014)

Consolidated in Dr Alsager's appeal is Case No 47367-4-II (on appeal from the Superior Court's CR 12(b)(6) dismissal of Dr Alsager's action against the Respondents for Declaratory Judgment and Injunctive Relief challenging the constitutionality of these same statutes (stemming from discovery, and adding RCW 70 225.040(3)) in the investigative/pre-charging document phase of the DOH/Board's quasi-criminal professional license disciplinary action against him and his professional license) See Certified Administrative Record (CAR), at 709-15.

judicial determination at that time whether to waive his fundamental constitutional rights and privileges or to assert them thereby facing sanctions and penalties including the revocation of his professional license, in light of the Board's admitted lack of authority to adjudicate and enforce his personal constitutional rights and privileges and in light of the provisions of Wash. Const. art. I, § 2, the APA in RCW 34.05.020, and WAC 10-08-220, as possible post-adjudicative due process remedies do not make constitutional the deprivation of, or sanction for the assertion of, fundamental personal Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights and privileges at the beginning of and during a quasi-criminal action?¹¹

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. DR ALSAGER HAS FIRMLY STOOD ON HIS CONSTITUTIONAL AND COMMON LAW RIGHTS

Since day one of the commencement of the Department of Health (DOH) investigation, Dr Alsager has respectfully but firmly stood on four concrete pillars of common law and constitutional law in asserting his rights and privileges that are and must be recognized in this quasi-criminal action:¹²

- The common law pillar that Washington courts have long held that professional license disciplinary proceedings are quasi-criminal actions;
- 2. The constitutional law pillar that quasi-criminal actions are entitled, just as in criminal cases, to the full and blanket protection of the U.S.

As an important issue but one rendered moot by this Court's reversal of the Court of Appeals affirmance of the Board's Final Order, is whether the Board Panel as a matter of law can order permanent revocation of a license only if it specifically and expressly finds and concludes that Dr Alsager can never be rehabilitated or can never regain the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety (see RCW 18 130 160, WAC 246-16-800(2)(b)(11))?

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