NO. 93916-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DALE ALSAGER, D.O., Ph.D.,

Appellant,

v.

BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE and SURGERY; WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; STATE OF WASHINGTON; JOHN WIESMAN, Dr. PH, MPH and CATHERINE HUNTER, D.O.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KRISTIN G. BREWER, WSBA #38494 Assistant Attorney General THOMAS F. GRAHAM, WSBA #41818 Assistant Attorney General PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-2750

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

IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This case meets none of the limited circumstances where this Court may choose to accept review. The decision in this case does not conflict with any established precedent; it does not raise any significant constitutional question of law or issue of substantial public interest. Dr. Alsager has thus failed to meet his burden for obtaining review under RAP 13.4(b) and this Court should deny the petition for review.

A. The Board and the Court of Appeals Correctly Followed State And Federal Precedent In Applying The Fifth Amendment

1. The Fifth Amendment's Applicability In Civil Proceedings Is Well-Settled

Washington medical disciplinary proceedings have been considered civil actions since statehood. Laws of Washington, (1889-90), 114-120 §§ 4, 6 (in medical discipline, "all proceedings had therein shall be as prescribed by law in civil cases..." and on appeal from revocation of a physician's license to superior court, "the clerk of the court shall thereupon docket such appeal causes, and they shall stand for trial in all respects as ordinary civil actions ..."). This Court has held that medical disciplinary proceedings are "quasi-criminal" and therefore must employ a heightened burden of proof. E.g., Nguyen v. State Dep't of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm'n, 144 Wn.2d 516, 527-29, 20 P.3d 689 (2001). The Court's application of a heightened burden of proof in a civil proceeding does not convert the proceeding into a criminal case, or entitle the licensee to the full panoply of protections enjoyed by a defendant in a criminal case. See id. (clear and convincing evidence required to revoke license to practice medicine, not the beyond a reasonable doubt criminal standard); In re Johnston, 99 Wn.2d 466, 474, 663 P.2d 457 (1983) ("quasi-criminal" medical discipline requires due process protections because it involves property interests within the meaning of the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments).

Consistent with this Court's decisions, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that "quasi-criminal" civil enforcement actions are civil in nature because they are remedial. E.g., United States v. Ward, 448 U.S. 242, 251-55, 100 S. Ct. 2636 (1980). In Ward, the Court explained that the civil or criminal nature of the action, not the adjectives with which it is described, determine a litigant's rights under the Fifth Amendment. Id. Even when described as "quasi-criminal," criminal protections are afforded only when proceedings are "so far criminal in their nature" that the defendant cannot be compelled to testify "to matters involving, or that may involve, his being guilty of a criminal offense." Id. at 253. The Supreme Court stated that penal "quasi-criminal" actions are those which impose a penalty of imprisonment or forfeiture of property and have "absolutely no correlation to any damages sustained by society or the cost of enforcing the law," citing Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746 (1886). It is only those penal "quasi-criminal" actions which receive criminal protections. Ward, 448 U.S. at 253-54.

In this case, Dr. Alsager's licensing proceeding did not trigger the Fifth Amendment because it was a remedial action. The potential penalties were all directly related to the damages caused to the public and focused on ensuring safe and adequate medical care and trust in the medical

profession. Criminal sanctions were not an option as the Board lacks authority to impose any. RCW 18.130.160.

Dr. Alsager is also incorrect in contending that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *In re Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. 544, 88 S. Ct. 1222, 20 L. Ed. 2d 117 (1968) and *Spevack v. Klein*, 385 U.S. 511, 87 S. Ct. 625, 17 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1967).

In *Ruffalo*, the United States Supreme Court held that heightened due process and advance notice of disciplinary charges is required in attorney disbarment proceedings. *Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. at 550. This is entirely consistent with the heightened due process the Washington Supreme Court has determined is due in medical disciplinary actions. *See, e.g., Nguyen,* 144 Wn.2d 516. Dr. Alsager received this heightened due process, including notice of the disciplinary charges. AR 04-10.

The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Spevack* is also consistent with this Court's case law. In *Spevack*, the Court reversed a decision disbarring an attorney for merely invoking the Fifth Amendment during bar disciplinary proceedings. *Spevack*, 385 U.S. at 514-16. But in that case, the attorney raised the Fifth Amendment in response to a subpoena demanding tax and financial records and requiring him to testify on issues that could subject him to criminal liability. That fact, not the quasi-criminal nature of the disciplinary action, brought the matter within

the scope of the Fifth Amendment. *Id.* at 516-19. Like *Spevack*, Washington also recognizes that the Fifth Amendment may be invoked in a civil proceeding "to protect the witness from compulsory disclosure of criminal liability." *Ikeda v. Curtis*, 43 Wn.2d 449, 457-58, 261 P.2d 684 (1953). The privileged may be claimed as to each question that may be incriminatory. *King v. Olympic Pipeline Co.*, 104 Wn. App. 338, 351-69, 16 P.3d 45 (2000), *rev. denied*, 143 Wn.2d 1012 (2001).

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with Washington and federal case law. The Court of Appeals applied state and federal precedent to conclude that the Board's proceedings revoke Dr. Alsager's medical license did not violate Dr. Alsager's Fifth Amendment rights. The right against testifying in a civil proceeding "necessarily attaches only to the question being asked and the information sought by that particular question" and "therefore, a person invoking his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination to avoid testifying in a civil action must assert that right specifically in response to particular questions or requests for information." Alsager, 384 P.3d at 648-49⁵, citing Doe ex. Rel. Rudy-Glanzer v. Glanzer, 232 F.3d 1258, 1265 (9th Cir. 2000). Dr. Alsager was required to assert the Fifth Amendment rights

⁵ Pin Citations for the November 15, 2016, Alsager opinion by the Court of Appeals are to the Pacific Reporter as there are not pin citation page numbers available at the time of this filing for the Washington Appellate Reports version.

"specifically in response to particular questions or requests for information," not by "invoking blanket constitutional protection to avoid participating in the proceedings." *Alsager*, 384 P.3d at 649, *citing Eastham v. Arndt*, 28 Wn. App. 524, 532, 624 P.2d 1159 (1981).

2. There Is No Split Among the Divisions Of The Court Of Appeals

Courts of Appeal have also recognized that "quasi-criminal," civil licensing actions do not give rise to the full scope of constitutional protections applicable in criminal cases.

Dr. Alsager mistakenly contends that the ruling in his case conflicts with the holding in *State v. Ankney*, 53 Wn. App. 393, 766 P.2d 1131 (1989). In reality, *Ankney* supports the decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter. In *Ankney*, Division I examined King County's animal control regulations under the equal protection clause. The regulations permitted authorities to sanction animal control violations with civil penalties or punish them as misdemeanors. Applying *Ward*, the Court of Appeals concluded that the animal control regulations' "civil penalty" was not substantively criminal. *Id.* at 398. *Ankney* did not concern the Fifth Amendment, and mentioned *Boyd* once without analysis:

Ward distinguished between "civil penalties" that are truly civil and those that are criminal in character because the

Fifth Amendment privilege against compulsory self-incrimination applies 'in any criminal case', U.S. Const. amend. 5, as well as in quasi-criminal cases, *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 663-34, 6 S. Ct. 524, 533-34, 29 L.Ed, 746 (1886), but not in civil enforcement proceedings. *Ward*, 448, U.S. at 248, 251-55, 100 S.Ct. at 2641- 2642-45.

Ankney, 53 Wn. App. at 397. After applying the Ward analysis, the Court held the animal control civil regulations were remedial in nature, and therefore civil, and affirmed that they did not violate equal protection.

Ankney, 53 Wn. App. at 395-96.

Just as in *Ankney*, the Court of Appeals in this case properly applied the *Ward* analysis to explain why proceedings against Dr. Alsager under the Uniform Disciplinary Act, chapter 18.130 RCW, are not a penal action that triggers criminal rights against compelled self-incrimination. The purpose of the disciplinary sanctions, the Court explained, are primarily remedial and regulatory rather than punitive or for vengeance. *Alsager*, 384 P.3d at 647.

There is no conflict between the Division I and Division II regarding the interpretation of *Ward* or *Boyd*. The holding in *Ankney* is entirely consistent with the Court of Appeals decision in Dr. Alsager's case.

B. The Board Acted Within Constitutional Bounds in Procuring Prescription Records

The Washington legislature, within the constraints of federal HIPAA legislation, enacted a comprehensive set of rules to govern the handling and privacy of personal health information. Chapter 70.02 RCW. To facilitate public health and safety, these laws authorize access to patient medical records, including prescription information, without a search warrant in the course of a properly authorized investigation into alleged unprofessional conduct. RCW 70.02.050(2), RCW 70.225.040(3). As the Court of Appeals properly held, these statutes do not violate the Fourth Amendment or article I, § 7 privacy protections because Dr. Alsager held no privacy interest in the prescription records at issue.

Interpretation of article I, § 7 and the Fourth Amendment both begin "by determining whether the action complained of constitutes a disturbance of one's private affairs. If there is no private affair being disturbed, no article I, section 7 violation exists." *State v. Miles*, 160 Wn.2d 236, 244, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). Only if such an intrusion is found is there an inquiry whether "authority of law" justifies the intrusion. *Id*.

In the present matter, the Court of Appeals determined that the Department did not intrude into Dr. Alsager's private affairs because existing case law holds that there is no privacy interest in prescription

records as to the government. *Alsager*, 384 P.3d at 650, citing, *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 181, 867 P.2d 593 (1994); *Murphy v. State*, 115 Wn. App. 297, 312-13, 62 P.2d 533 (2003).

For example, in *Murphy*, the Court of Appeals addressed whether a patient has a privacy interest in his own prescription records, which would require the government to obtain a search warrant before acquiring the records. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that article I, § 7 provides broader safeguards than the Fourth Amendment, but determined that neither provision provides comprehensive privacy safeguards concerning prescription records. *Murphy*, 115 Wn. App. at 312-13. The Court explained that while patients have long enjoyed an expectation of privacy against public disclosure of their prescription records, the government has enjoyed a long tradition of access and oversight thereof. *Id.* The *Murphy* Court thus held that prescription records are not private affairs where the government is concerned and are not protected by article I, § 7 or the Fourth Amendment because of the long history of government scrutiny of controlled substance prescribing. *Murphy*, 115 Wn. App. at 313.

In Dr. Alsager's case, the Court of Appeals followed this rational, citing state and federal laws which demonstrate that "scheduled controlled substances have been subject to robust governmental regulation at the state

and federal levels for decades, based on the danger they can pose to the public." *Alsager*, 384 P.2d at 650.

The Court went on to note that "we must consider patients' general interest in privacy in light of the State's vital interest in controlling the distribution of dangerous drugs." *Id. citing Whalen v. Roe*, 429 U.S. 589, 598, 97 S. Ct. 869, 51 L. Ed. 2d 64 (1977). Because of that "vital interest, patients should reasonably expect prescriptions for such records to be subject to some governmental scrutiny, 'subject,' as noted in *Murphy*, 'to safeguards against unauthorized further disclosure' by officials." *Alsager*, 384 P.3d at 650.

Finally, the Court rejected Alsager's reliance on privacy interests of the prescribing physician, noting that physicians, "allowed by law to prescribe controlled substances under RCW 69.50.308, should be even more aware than patients that the government exercises tight regulatory oversight of these controlled substances." *Alsager*, 384 P.3d at 650; *see also Jeckle v. Crotty*, 120 Wn. App. 374, 380-82, 85 P.3d 931 (2004), *rev. denied*, 152 Wn.2d 1029 (2004) (patient records are not the *doctor's* private affair and doctor lacks standing to assert his patients' privacy rights against disclosure of medical records).

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the statutes which authorized the Board to obtain the records were not facially

unconstitutional. Alsager, 384 P.3d at 649-50. Therefore, the Board in this matter did not intrude into a zone of privacy protected by either state or federal constitutions by obtaining prescription records and prescription monitoring plan data. The prescriptions were not Dr. Alsager's private affairs. Alsager, 384 P.3d at 649-50. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that records of prescriptions for scheduled controlled substances "are subject to legitimate oversight by appropriate agents of the State if reasonably tailored to the enforcement of state law and if effective safeguards against unauthorized further disclosure are present." Alsager, at 17-18; see, e.g., Whalen, 429 U.S. 589 (limits on and penalties for further disclosure of prescription records important to constitutionality of statutory scheme).

Dr. Alsager, however, contends that the Court of Appeals' article I, § 7 analysis is flawed because it failed to properly perform a *Gunwall* analysis concerning physician prescription records. *See State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808 (1986) (establishing non-exclusive criteria for "determining whether, in a given situation, the Washington State Constitution should be considered as extending broader rights to its citizens than the United States Constitution"). But his argument is nothing more than dissatisfaction with the *Gunwall* analysis in *Murphy* concerning article I, § 7's application in the same "given situation" or context. His disagreement with *Murphy* is not enough to prevail on his *Gunwall*

argument. Washington Courts need not engage in a new Gunwall analysis

each time the same "given situation" or context is presented for review.

See State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 62, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (Court

performed truncated Gunwall analysis because party presented novel

context; art. 1, § 9 co-extensive with Fifth Amendment).

Because his argument lacks merit, Dr. Alsager has failed to meet

his burden for obtaining review.

V. CONCLUSION

Nothing in the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior case

law, raises a significant constitutional question, or involves an issue of

substantial public interest. Therefore, discretionary review should be

denied.